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1. Name of Property
historic name Grafton Historic District
otiiler name/site number

2. Location!

street name e not for publication
city or town Rockville e vicinity

state  Utah code uT county Washington code 053 zip code 84763

3. State/Federal Agency Certification "NiPPfiw!IMg|g|ffl

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, | hereby certify that this E  nomination
* request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register
of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60, In my opinion, the
property # meets 0 does not meet the National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant

e natjpna)ly « state/Olde 0 locally”(~"ee conjj*uation sheet for additional comments.)

Signature of certifying official/Ti' Date

Utah Division of State Historv. Office of Historic Preservation
State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property = meets ¢« does not meet the National Register criteria. (¢ See continuation sheet for additional
comments.)

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. Natimal Park Service Certification
| hereby cfertify that the property is: Date of Action

5fl entered in the National Register.
* See continuation sheet.
« determined eligible for the
National Register
* See continuation sheet.
« determined not eligible for the
National Register.
* removed from the National
Register.
« other, (explain:)



Grafton Historic District
Name of Property

5. Classification

Ownership of Property
(check as many boxes as apply)

Category of Property

(check only one box)

A private e building{s)
* public-local K district

e public-State o site

* public-Federal e structure

o(nai

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

N/A

6. Function or Use
Historic Function

(Enter categories from instructions)
DOMESTIC: single dwelling
EDUCATION, RELIGION: school, religious facility
AGRICULTURAIySUBSISTENCE: storage, animal facility

7. Description
Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

MID-19™ CENTURY: Greek Revival
OTHER: Vernacular Classical
OTHER: Vernacular Outbuildings

Narrative Description

Rockville, Washington Countv, Utah
City, County and State

Number of Resources within Property
(Do notinclude previously listed resources inthe count.)

Contributing Noncontributing
16 ¢ - buildings
sites
structures
objects
16 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed
in the National Register

N/A

Current Function

(Enter categories from instructions)

VACANT/NOT IN USE

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation STONE: sandstone, basalt Hava rock)

walls ADOBE, BRICK, WOOD: log.
weatherboard

roof WOOD: shingle

other

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

NS ee continuation sheet(s) for Section No. 7
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Narrative Description

Overview

The Grafton Historic District encompesses the entiretown gte of Grafton, Utah, settled in late 1861 and
abandoned in 1945." Culturd and natura resourcesinclude residences, outbuildings, a schoolhouse/mesting
house, foundations,fieldsand orchards, roads, fences, and a system of irrigation ditchesand rdated walls.
Fifteen contributing resourcesremain from the agricultural community: four resdences, a church/school
building, five agricultura outbuildings (bams, granaries), ad five visible building foundations/sites, and the
footingsfor abridge. Thereis one noncontributing building, a more recent wooden privy, axd one object, a
mobile home.

Grafton is a small, asandoned Mormon settlement nestled dong the Virgin River, gpproximately two miles
from the southern border of Zion National Park in southern Utah, and two miles west of downtown Rockville.

It is now incorporated within the Rockville town boundaries. Grafton is located one mile up the river from the
origina town dte ("Old Grafton™) that was settled in 1859 and abandoned in January of 1862, &s the result of
destruction by recurring floodsof the nearby Virgin River. The only public building, the church/school/meseting
housg is located a the intersection on the north end of town, neer the river. Thisfarming hamlet Ststo the
south and west of the Virgin River bdow stegp rugged sandgonecliffs that are ancessad through a maze of desgp
aroyos (dry river beds) south of town. It is a desert landscgpe and fields must be irrigated for cropsand cattle
grazing fodder.

The town can presently be aoocessad by vehicle only from Bridge Road over the Rockville Bridge (NR listed
8/4/1995) in Rockville. The road is paved for a short distance after crossing the Virgin River, but mogt of its
length is unpaved. Grafton is laid out on a smal grid of unpaved sreets oriented on an eest-west axis, rotated
dightly dockwise”™ Five dregsoriginaly existed: North Stregt, South Street, Grafton Road, and two other
dregtsthat ran north-south whose names have been lost over time.  Grafton Road enterstown from the south
and endsa North Street a the school/church. North Street gopearsto haverun from the eedt end of town to
dightly west of a north/south street (now gone) (Photo # 1). South Street began & Grafton Road and ran west
through town. Historically thisroad continued to Toquervilleand S. Georgebut it is now fenced on the west
ddeof Grafton Road and South Street is dosed to traffic (Photo # 2).

Architectural Resources

Two types of architectura resourcescan be identified in Grafton: historic buildings and the remans of historic
buildings (foundations). Five contributing principa buildings (Photos 3-7) and five outbuildings (Photos 8-12)
still sand ingdethe district boundaries and include the following:

~ This is a revised version of the National Register Historic District draft nomination completed by Polly Hart in 1999.

~ The survey for Grafton was based on the "Plat of the City of Zion" designed by LDS (Church of Jesus Christ of the Latter-day Saints or Mormon)
Church founder Joseph Smith for the City of Zion near Independence, Missouri, in 1833. Joseph Smith's plan for Zion called for a mile-square grid of
streets, each 132 feet wide. Three large elongated blocks at the center of town were set aside for the bishops' storehouses and twenty-four temples,
and fami fields were located outside of the town. Obviously the plan of Grafton differs greatly from the City of Zion; however, modifications were made
based on local needs and terrain, as was the case in the majority of Mormon settlements.
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»  The adobe church/school (Photo # 3) isac. 1886, front-gabled single-room structure with Gresk Reviva
stylistic influences. It was renovated in 2000 by repairing or replacing damaged adobe and repairing or
replacing the windows, doors, roof, and bell tower. At that time an interior wood frame support was
added for stability, plaster on the walls and celling was repaired, and the non-historic wood floor was
refinished. All work was basad on the Secretary of the Interior Standards and gpproved by the Utah
State Historic Preservation Office.

* TheAlonzo H. and Nancy Foder RussHll House isac. 1862-3 one-and-ahdf sory Greek Reviva sde-
gabled resdence of adobe congtruction (Photo # 4) with aframe front porch and a shed-roofed rear
addition. The double-cell floor plan hes asymmetrica faBade and cornicereturns a the gable ends. The
foundation was repointed and donesreset in 2001. The porch had collgpsed due to vanddism and the
adobe bricks on the second floor faBade were pulled avay, leaving the second floor interior open to the
wesgther. 1n 2003, the second story wall was repaired, and non-historic stucco gpplied for amovie st
was removed as well, exposing the original adobe bricks. New doors, windows and hardware were dso
ingaled. An interior daircase, two interiorfireplaces,associated chimneys, the front porch, and the reer
shed-roofed addition were recongtructed. Most work was completed in 2004. Like the church/schoal,
all work was basad on historical reference complying with the Secretary of the Interior Standards.

* Theddegabled sngle-story vernacular classica Louisa Maria Foster Russdll House was built ¢. 1862-3
of hewn-log construction (Photo # 5) with adobe brick in the gable ends. A door with an adjacent
window pierces the north-facing faade of the single-cell structure. There is aframe board-and-batten
rear shed-roofed addition. 1n 1999 the exterior logs were re-chinked, and deteriorated logs replaced.

* TheDavid and Maria Smith Ballard House (Photo # 6), ¢. 1907, is awood-frame sde-gabled one-and-a
half sory housewith novelty siding on the faBade to the north and board-and-batten siding on the other
devations. A snglebrick chimney is sStuated ontheridgdine of theroof The attic hes two small
symmetrically placed windows onthe west elevation. The symmetrica faBade hes acentrd entrance
door with flanking windows. Theroof on the shed-roofed rear addition was rebuilt with new rafters,
roof decking and shinglesin 2001. Repair and replacement of materidsin kind and new wooden railing
was done on the hip-roofed front porch in 2003.

e  TheJohn, ., and Ellen Smith Wood House was built ¢. 1877 of fired brick (Photo #7). Itissde
gabled in acrosswing form with two corbelled chimneys and awooden shed-roofed front porch facing
to the eed. There are three rooms and three open porches. 1n 1999 the damaged exterior brick was
replaced and repointed as needed.  The cellar entrance a the rear of the house was rebuilt in-kind with
basdt gonereplacements, new dairs, door casing and lintel. Theroof was re-shingled as nesded and the
dde porches on the south and north were recongtructed. On the interior damegedfl oorboardswere
replaced and living room walls were re-plastered.

The ancillary buildings are agricultura outbuildings. They are all contributing and include thefollowing:
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* A smdl frame shed a the rear of the LouisaMaria Foster Russdll House (Photo # 8) was raised and
leveled with approximeately 40% of the historic building fabric/exterior walls replaced in kind in 1999.
Theroof is clad with wooden shingles.

* A lage frameIntermountain-style bam was built c. 1907 to the wes of the David and Maria Smith
Ballard House (Photo #9). The entrance is on the narrow gable end and it hes aflanking shed-roofed
ddewing. No restoration work hes been documented on the bam. The bamisclad with unpanted
weethered vertica wooden planks and the roof with corrugated meta sheeting.

* A oneroomraised log granary (Prior to 1900) to the eest of the David and Maria Smith Ballard House
(Photo # 10) hes had no known restoration work. 1t hes alow-pitched front-gabled roof with planksa
the gable ends The opening is on the north elevation. , I

e A gmdl two-room log bam c. 1877 to the south of the John, Sr., and Ellen Smith Wood House (Photo
#11) was in an advanced date of deterioration prior to being rebuilt in2000. Theroof pitch matches that
in an higtoric photo and original logswere reessembled in their original position with new below—grade
concrete reinforcing the comer poss. The gabled roof is clad with planks.

 Ac 1877 log granary on gilts to the south of the John, ., and Ellen Smith Wood House (Photo #12)
was raised, leveled and set on native sone supports rather than the original juniper comer pods. The
existing gabled roof was replaced a somepoint prior to 1998 and clad in wooden shingles.

All of the extant buildings date from between 1862 and 1907 and remain essentidly undtered, with the
exception of natura deterioration and recent restoration efforts. The buildings remain as they were consgmcted,
without electricity, gas modem plumbing, or telephones.

The remnants of five building foundations and abridge foundation are found in Grafton, and include the
following: I

* Thec. 1862 William and Sarah Smith Hagtings house foundation (Photo # 13) is basdt and
sanddone and located a the southwest comer of Grafton Road and North Sreet.

¢ Cut black basdt gones mark the foundation of the c. 1900 James N. and Susan Hirschi Stanworth
house on the south sde of the eest end of North Street (Photo # 14). The Sone remnants gppeer to
indicate that the first floor had four rooms with acdlar bd ow the southesst comer.

»  Sepslead beow grade a the sanddone foundation of an excavated cdlar/dugout to the eedt of the
David and Maria Smith Ballard House (Photo # 15). In 2001 it was informally excavated and
artifacts retrieved.
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* Thebasdt and sandgtone foundation of the Alonzo, J., and Elizabeth Hardy Russdll House (Photo #
16) islocated on the south sde of North Stret, just to the eedt of the David and Maria Smith Ballard
housa ,

*  The John and Charlotte Pincock Ballard House rubble stone foundation, c. 1862, (Photo # 17) is
located to the west of the extant Louisa Maria Foster Russall House on the south sde of North
Street. It gppears to have been atwo-room housewith aone-room root cellar located approximeately
twenty feet to the rear.

» TheVirgin River islocated just outsde of the Grafton Historic District boundaries. Within the

., boundaries are some remains of an historic footbridge (circa early 20th century) that was used to
crossthe river. Due north of West Street two large poles with heavy, msted metd cable are
anchored into the ground at the edge of afield above the bluff leading down to theriver. The Sde of
the bluff below the anchor poles is encasad with large broken pieces of concrete that once formed a
retaining wall for the bridge. Remnants of the retaining wall on the north (opposite) sde of theriver
can barely be ssen from the south shore and are not included within the boundaries. The sandy
banks of the river range from gpproximately twenty to fifty feet wide a the town Ste, due to eroson
frommany yearsof flooding.

A non-contributing building and anon-contributing object that date after the period of significance are presently
located a Grafton. An outhouse and trailer (bothfi-omafter 1944 when the areawas abandoned) are located on
the eedt end of North Strest and are outside of the historic period. Theframe outhouse (Photo # 18) islocated
to the northeast of the foundation and trailer (seen in Photo # 14). Thepink and whitetravel trailer mogt likely
datesfi-omthe 1950s or 1960s and has been on the Ste more than adecede G

Agricultural Landscape
The agricultura landscape of Grafton included features related to farming and property boundaries such as

fields and orchards, irrigation ditches, and fences.

Fields dominate the landscgpe; however, grass has taken over mogt of them for lack of plowing and planting
crops. Thefiel dsthat meet the cliffsat the west end of town are the exception, and they are overgrown with
soe and other plant life nativeto thisarid climate. Many are currently used as paduresfor cattle (Photo # 22).
Ore orchard exigts to the south (rear) of the David and Maria Smith Ballard House (Photo # 19). The trees,
planted in rows, gppear to date from the end of the historic period of significance. Fidds and treesline Grafton
Road (Photo # 20).

Remnants of the higtoric irrigation sysem ditches (c. late 1861-1862) can be ssen dong most of the roadsides,
fence lines, and bisecting someof the fields. The ditch ruiming adong the west 9de of Grafton Road (in front of
the extant Wood house, Photo # 21) isthe mogt visible and hes been lined with concrete. In many places the
ditches have been filled with large irrigation pipes and then covered with dirt and now gopear aslengthy
mounds.
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Other Associated Resources

There are two other important resources that should be mentioned.  Although they are historically associated
with Grafton, they are located on Bureau of Land Management (BLM) land and are not included within the
district boundaries a thistime. They are the Grafton Cemetery and Wood Road.

The Grafton Cametery (c. 1863-1924) islocated approximately one-haf mile south of the town Ste, just west of
Grafton Road, outsde of the boundaries of the Grafton Historic District. Encosed by an old (but not original)
post and wire fence, the cemetery measures approximatdy ninety-four feet by one hundred fourteen feet. The
cemeeay isbare earth, with no grassor mgjor vegetation. Some of the heedsones date from the mid-to-late
nineteenth century and are badly deteriorated; however, someof the markers are modem replacements, and
some are merdly movie props, according to unconfirmed local lore. Both sone and wood markers were used to
identify the resting places of Grafton resdents, and mog of the graves are covered with mounds of dirt.

The Wood Road (c. early 1890s) begins a the intersection of South Street and Eadt Street (Grafton Road) and
heeds south toward the cemetery beforewinding up the segp mountainside to the plateau above. Named for its
purpose, the road was used by the pioneers to haul large timbers from the Mt. Tmmbull sawmill in nearby
Arizona and the mesaabove town. It islocated outsde of the boundaries of the Grafton Historic District. Both
the cemetery and the Wood Road are located on Bureau of Land Management land and not included in this
nomination.

SUmmary

Because of the abandonment of the town severd decades ago, mogt of the buildings suffered from deterioration
and had to be repaired - some more than others. All repairs were carried out in such away asto replicate
origina materids and gppearance and minimize overal visua impact to the resources. Where possible,
materids were repaired rather than replaced.

Virtually al the extant smctures are contributing buildings from within the historic period of significance.
Theseinclude the church/school, four resdences, five agricultura outbuildings and five resdentid foundations.
Grek revival and vemacular classicd influences can be ssenin the symmetrica facades, comice retumsand
Sde-gabled roofsof the buildingsin thissmal agricultura settlement. They represent arange of the building
materids used in frontier tovras in the second half of the nineteenth century in Utah; frame with board-and-
batten, novety and vertical plank siding, soft-fired brick, adobebrick, and log. The Grafton Historic District is
significant as arare extant example of the many small Mormon towns settled i n Southem Utah in the Cotton
Mission era
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a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

« B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.
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Narrative Statement of Significance

Origindly settled inthe early 1860s and abandoned in 1945, Grafton, Utah, is a unique example of a nineteenth-
century Mormon settlement that, except for natural deterioration, remains largely unchanged from its settlement
period The few remaining buildings have not been architecturaly dtered,* and many origina fences mark the
historic property linesthat surround the still-visible fieldsand irrigation ditches. Electricity, gas plumbing, and
modem amenitieswere never introduced into Grafton,™ and the roadsthat remain were never paved. Survival in
southem Utah was very difficult because of the harsh climate, and mid-nineteenth-century settlements ether
thrived or failed rather quickly. Unlike mogt of these smdl tovms, Grafton managed to barely survive the
nineteenth century, but it ultimately failed inthe mid-twentieth, astechnology, growth and changing ideds
rendered it obsolete. Early settlementsin Washington County that did not succsed weretypically absandoned
early, leaving few remains, and those that managed to remain viable have been greetly dtered over timewith
population growth and concomitant building renovations, demoalitions, new constmction, ard modem
conveniences, such as paved roadsand utilities. The Grafton Historic District is a unique shgpshot of the early
sttlement era The district hes a period of significance dating from 1861 to ¢. 1940sand is significant under
Criterion A for both Exploration & Settlement and Agriculture asa depiction of aMormon Cotton Mission
sttlement. Mormon settlerswere directed or "called” by Brigham Y oung to leavetheir homes to the north and
movewith their families to Southem Utah, or "Dixie," asit was known because of the climate, to establish new
stlementsand raise cotton and other warm-wesgther crops. Grafton reflects the settlement pattem of early
Mormon communitiesin the region, and is important asa very rare example of aMormon settlement whose
extant, mostly unoccupied buildings have survived undtered into the early twenty-first century.®

The settlement of Utah and the Cotton Mission

Brigham Y oung and his followers from the Church of JesusChrist of Latter-day Saints(LDS or Mormon
Church) settled the Utah Territory in 1847. The Mormon migration began with original church leeder Josgph
Smith in Fayette, New York, and continued acrassthe plainsinto the Utah Territory after his deeth in Carthage,
[llinois, in 1844. Numerous Mormon towns were established aong their way wed.

Upon arriva inthe SAt Lake Valley, Mormon Church leedersimmediately caled upon many of their members
to leavethe city and settle asmuch of the territory aspossblein order to claim it astheir own. Following the
Utah War in 1858 in which the Mormons found themsdaves pitted against Federd troops (while dso involved in
localized skirmishes with Native Americans), one of the Church's primary goaswes to creste a completey
self-sufficient society." Thiswas, in part, achieved by a series of economic missonsto settle aress that had the

' This is arevised version of the National Register Historic District draft nomination completed by Polly Hart in 1999.
' They retain their original form although decayed and deteriorated materials have been repaired or replaced in recent restorations.
' Several personal histories state that David and Maria Ballard had a telephone in the later years, and this has been confinned by Vilo Jones DeMille.
AThree Native American sites have been identified at Grafton. However, these have not been studied to any degree and date from before the period of
significance. Therefore they will not be included as resources in the district. The Virgin River Basin is rich with cultural resources that pre-date this
period of significance, and itis possible that more sites exist within this project area.

Leonard Arrington, Great Basin Kingdom, pp. 95-6.
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natural advantages neaded for this purpose. Thesemissionsincluded gold, iron, silk and cotton, among others.
Gold mining and silk production provided luxury goods, iron enabled the ploneersto produoethelr own tools;
and cotton was essentia for the production of clothing.

The Cotton Mission played akey rolein the drive for self-sufficiency, for it was down in the more temperate
climate of "Dixie" (southem Utah) that commodities such as cotton, flax, hemp, sugar cane, wine grapes, ad
figs could be raised successfiiUy. Exploration parties st out for the SantaClaraand Virgin River bagansin the
early 1850s and in 1857 and 1858 small partieswere sent to settlethe region. By the spring of 1859, the
population of Virgin City had reached critical mass and that fall sx familiesled by Nathan Cram Tenney were
cadled fromVirgin City to settle farther upstream. The settlement was nameGrafton supposedly named after
Grafton town in Massschusstts” : C o :

Origina Grafton Settlement

The familiesof Nathan C. Tenney, Benjamin Fiatt, Don Carlos Shirts, William R. Davies, Hyrum Bamey and
James McFate were listed a the beginning of the 1860 Virgin City Censusdthough they lived a Grafton.'
They chosea Ste on the south Sde of the "Rio Virgen" approximately six miles upsream of Virgin City."

They promptly began building a dam, laying out a sysem of ditches, and clearing the land with the intention of
growing cotton. In March of 1860 Grafton was organized as Precinct no. 8 of Washington County, and the
following gppointments were mede: James McFate as justice of the peace, Darius Shirts as congtable, Benjamin
Piatt as pound kegper, and Nathan Tenney as road supervisor 13

The weether cooperated with the pioneersin 1860, and the cropswerea success That summe 106 acres had
been planted, including twenty-five of whest, ten of cotton, ten of sugar cane, and twenty-five of com.* It wes
clear, however, that crops donewould not sustain the settlers, and by 1861 the farmers had added cattle
ranching to their operations. Thisindustry would becomeincreasingly important for their survival, e farming
was difficultand unpredictable. The winter of 1860-61 was harsh, and floods in January destroyed the dam and
carried much of the settlers work down the river. After more flooding during the following fall, it became
dear that thislocation was not going to be viable for habitation.

A new town dtewas chosen one mile up the river, and preparations were medeto establish the new community.
A meeting was held on December 13, 1861, and Chandler Holbrook was named surveyor with John Nebeker
and William Branch assgned to assst him; Chgpman Duncan was gppointed as foreman of the new water ditch;
Nathan Tenney becamethe chief herdaman; and Franklin W. Young as dected as both the first bishop of the
newly organized Grafton Ward” and the first post megter for anew mail route between Grafton and Cedar City.
Another town named Grafton dreedy existed in northem Utah, s this settlement was officially caled Wheder

' lbid., p. 33.
' Ronald C. Ballard. "On the Banks of the Rio Virgen [sic]," p. 6. Another theory is that Grafton was named after a town in New Hampshire.
" The first U.S. Census taken at Grafton was in 1870. Families settled there in 1860 were listed at the beginning of the Virgin City census.
" Andrew Jenson, Encyclopedic History of the Church of Jesus Chhst of Latter-day Saints, pp. 293-4.
" Deseref News, May 23, 1860, p. 93.
" Andrew Jenson. History of the Grafton Ward. 1860.
" Church Historian's Office. Journal History of the Church, July 22, 1860, p. 2.
A ward is a local congregation of the Mormon Church.
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foratime. Theresdents d<o petitioned and received from the Territorial Legidature $1,500 to build a wagon
road from Grafton to St. George and improve and extend the road from Harmony to Toquerviller Theroad to
. George was an extenson of South Street that followed the Virgin River to the west. Theroad from
Harmony to Toquerville was mogt likely the present-day State Route 17.

In May of 1861 Church Presdent Brigham Young and severd other presiding dders visited Dixie to assess the
progress of the Cotton Mission. They were surprised to find the population very small, in spite of Y oung's pest
efforts to settle the region. Upon their return to Sat Lake City they asked for volunteers to move south. After
just one man offered to go of hisown free will. Presdent Y oung drew up alist of missonaries to be assgned
thetask. John Harvey Ballard, John Wood, S., William Hastings, and Alonzo Haventon Russdll were among
the Elders "called,” or asagned, to Grafton at thistime, and their familieswould subssquently be among the
longest-glanding residents of the town.

Hooding and the Move to the New Grafton Settlement

On Decamber 17, 1861 a survey was completed for the new location and farming lotswere drawn by lottery.
There were more people than lotsthat resulted in severd familiesleaving old Grafton before the move. This
shortage of auitable farmland would ultimately be acontributing factor in the demise of the town.

Wedrew for our farm lots of lottery[sic]. | got avery good lot but bro. Woodbury, anursery .
man, got avery poor one and was going to move away, but | wanted him to day, as | knew
it would help the place to have agood nursery here, 0 | let him havemy lot and | took his.
In the evening we had adancein bro. A.H. Russdll's big tent. The remarks of bro. Show hes[siC]
caused aspirit of uneedness [sic] in the minds of many, and now thosewho did not get lots
are about moving out, in fact, | may say and that tmly athough | do not find abit of fault with

<« what bro. Show said, yes, it has drew a least one half away from the place and Rockville too,
and has dmogt killed both places.

History has traditionally held that the settlers decided to move the town after arain sorm and flood that arted
on Chrisgmas Day of 1861 and lagted forty days and nights, however, Franklin W. Y oung'sjoumal clearly
dated that, while the river did rise gpproximatey four feet on December 25+, there were seven daysof fair or
cloudy westher and four days of snow during the subsequent forty days. Furthermore, hisdiary, dong with the
minutes of the Decamber 13, 1861, ward mesting, prove that the decision to move the town was mede a leest a
month before the "big flood."

During the early hours of January 18, 1862, the rising water carried avay one of Nathan Tenney's housss and
its contents and destroyed ancther. Hiswife, Olive, who was nine months pregnant a the time, was washed
from the house and caught in theriver. All of the menwere caled out of bed to save her, and they carried her

This town was called both Grafton and Wheeler by its residents, but eventually after the other "Grafton" was abandoned, this settlement was solely
referred to as Grafton.
" Andrew Jenson, History of the Grafton Ward. 1861,
'° Franklin Wheeler Young. Jouma/, Wednesday, December 18, 1861,
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to Hymm and Mercy Barney's home (possibly awagon) where she gavebirth to aboy. In ceéebration of the
event she named the child MarvelousF 1l oo d . . :

Thewinter and spring of 1862 were devoted to digging the new irrigation ditch, clearing and fencing the land,
and planting crops. The location and depth of the trenches were such that resdents were able to get water
during the wet ssason, but by May the river was too low to fill the ditches, and the irrigation sysem had to be
modified. Ultimately the ditch cogt $5,000 and the labor of twenty-four men” By summer, the ditches were
sufficiently watering the com, sugar cane, wheat and cotton that had been planted in the spring.

A log schoolhouse/meeting  house (demolished) measuring eighteen by twenty-six feet was
Dedicated in January and finished a the east end of North Street in the spring of 182" with
Dr. Samud Kenner being the teacher. The schoolhouse was used for all public gatherings. It
was around log housewith two windowsand adoor init. The windows were very smal; so
were the window panes. The floor was of date rock which was hauled and placed in theroom
for the floor. The benches were of the logs sawed in two; the round part holes were bored and

pegs driven infor legs.

Prior to this, all church and public meetings had been held in Alonzo H. Russl's large canvas tent, which he
had purchased from Johngton's Army, which occupied Utah during the Mormon War and then abandoned the
territory when the Civil War dated”™* Helived in the tent with histwo wives and children until hisone-and-a
half story adobe housewas built the following year but dso hosted community dancesin the tent. Alonzo
Haventon Russall (1821-1910) weas apolygamig, following the Mormon custom of the time, and two wives
lived in Grafton with hm”*  They were sstersfrom New Harnpshire, Nancy Briggs Foder (1825-1903) and
Louisa Maria Fogter (1839-1917), and each had nine children®  Alonzo H. Russdll was bornin Vermont and
was amusician, expat onthe drums and fife. Russdl lived in the houseuntil his deeth and membersof the
Russd| family occupied it until 1945.

William Hagtings (1824-1882) and Sarah Smith (1830-1920) were both English Mormon converts and came to
Grafton after the 1861 "call." They had eight children together, five of whom were bom in Grafton. Sarah
Smith Hadtings lived in her house on the southwest comer of Grafton Road and North Street as awidow for her
ladt forty years. The housgsfoundationis still visible.

John Harvey Ballard (1825-1891) and his wife, Charlotte Pincock (1826-1901), married in Nauvoo, Illinois, in
1845, and after some time of living in Provo, Utah County, were "called” to Grafton, settling therein the early

Ibid., January 18, 1862.
Ibid., May 19,1862.
James Bleak, Annals ofthe Southern Utah Mission, p. 1234.
AJenson. History of Grafton Ward, 1862,
f Almira Tiffany Bethers, Biography of Sarah Jane York Tiffany, p. 8,
Lyman D, and L, Karen Piatt, Grafton: Ghost Town on the Rio Virgin, p. 62.

Piatt & Piatt, p, 26,
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1860s John H. Ballard sarved &s the first schoolteacher in Grafton.  The foundation of their houseis visible
on North Stredt, just to the west of the Louisa Foster Russdll House. Ore of their fourteen children, David
Ballard (1867-1939) built the frame house and bam on the eest end of North Street ¢. 1907 after marrying Maria
Smith (1867-1917) in 1890 in . George.

James N. Stanworth (1869-1941) was bom in Grafton and married Susan Hirshi (1876-1954) of Rockvillein
1900. He was in the cattle business as ayoung man and served amission for the Mormon Church. They built a
brick house on the eest end of North Street. Five of their saven children were bom in Grafton.

Early on, amud pit was excavated to the southwest of the extant David and Maria Smith Ballard House for the
purpose of making adobe and soft-fired bricks. Thesewere used to build permanent smctures, as good
hardwood was not plentiful in thevalley.

Crops and Other Trades

In an atempt to better fulfill the primary purpose of their mission, the farmers a Grafton produced arecord
4,784 poundsof cottonin 1862 a the expense of raising food crops. They subsequently replaced aportion of
the cotton cropswith corn to enaurethat there would be enough to egt, and in 1863 and 1864 they planted
Sxteen acresof wheet, seventy acres of com, twenty-five acres of sugar cane, ten and one-haf acres of
vegetables and tobacco, and twenty-nine acresof cotton.By 1866 the breakdown of cropshed changedto
twenty acresof whedt, forty-five acres of com, eight acres of sugar cane, and eghteen acresof cotton.

They dso planted cherry, peach, gpple and peer treesinearly 1862, dong with grgpe and currant bushes The
fmit was dried or bottled and then taken to the northem settlements with molasses to be bartered for potatoes,
cheeseand dry goods.  After the fmit treesbegan to produce large harvests and each family had more than
they could process, the practice of cutting bees became popular. Many of the women and girls would gather
together a one houseand cut and lay out all of the fruitto be dried. Afterwards they would play games and et
watermelon and grgpes™

By 1864 the town had a sawmill, agristmill, athresher and a cotton gin. These machines, dong with the
farming tools, required maintenance. AlonzoH. Russdll had been a successfiil blacksmith in Sdt Lake City and
continued his invaluable trade a Grafton. He provided the community with knives, forks, tongs, hand irons and
hammers, as well as repairing broken wagon parts, sharpening plows, and shoeing horses.John Wood, S,
was aso ablacksmith, but his carpentry skills eamed him the responsbility of making much of the furniture in
towvn™ Eventualy John Wood, J., took over his father's blacksmith shop.

A'ibid., p. 56,
" Bleak, op, cit., p, 128.

Piatt, op, cit,, pp, 64-5,

Bleak, op, cit., p. 230.

McMullin, op. cit, p, 21,

Grant Langston, Memories of John Langston, p, 60.
A Ballard, op, cit,, p, 21.

McMullin, op, cit,, p. 3
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On January 16, 1864, the Territorial Legidature crested Kane County, and Grafton was chosen as the county
sedt. At thistime adatistical censusof the church counted twenty-eight familiesand 168 people in Grafton, the
highest population the town would ever have. It remained the largest settlement on the upper Virgin River until
1866.

Indian Conflicts X

The year 1866 Sgnded amagjor tuml ng point for Grafton. Utah's Black Hawk War had been declared in April
of 1865, sgnaing open hostilities between the Mormon settlers and the Native Americans. Thefirst tragedy hit
on Jenuary 9* when two Kane County resdents identified as Dr. JanesM. Whitmore and Robert Mclntyre
were robbed of their cattle and killed by Indians about thirteen miles south of town a FPipe Spring Ranch/™
Nearby Pehreach Ranch was dso beseged for aperiod of two months, athough no one was killed.

Then beginning on January 18, 1866, all three sonsof Asa Bartlett Y ork and Mary Jane Bethers died over the
ocourse of three daysfrom diphtheria. In Febmary two girls, Letty Russdll and Lizzie Woodbury, were killed
while playing on a swing that was fashioned from the bumt cotton gin a the center of town. Thetwo girls
were buried together in a sngle grave a the Grafton cemetery. Before the towngpeople had a chanceto recover
from these events, tragedy stmck again on April 2" when Joseph S and Robert M. Berry and Robert's wife,
Mary Isabel Haes, were ambushed and killed outside of town by native Paiutes while retuming home to Long
Valey after avisit a Spanish Fork, Utah County.

Evacuation

The Battalion of the Iron Military District had been organized for the continued protection of the Cotton
Missonaries from Indians, and Grafton resdent James Andmsled the loca regiment; however, by the spring of
1866 it was dear that the towns scattered dong the Virgin River could be better protected from increasing

atacks from nativetribes by consolidating. Erastus Snow, president of the Southem (Cotton) Mission, sent a
letter to each of the communities onthe upper Virgin River, urging them to unify a Rockville, two miles eedt of
Grafton. On Jme 10* the resdents of Grafton vacated the town. Most of the log and frame houseswere moved
to Rockville, as thisrel ocation was conddered atemporary messure. The men commuted back home daily to
tend and secure their crops, and they raised twenty acresof whest, forty-five acresof corn, eight acres of sugar
cane, and eighteen acresof cottonin 1866. The population of RockV|IIe increesed from ninety-five to

approximately five hundred people as the reault of this consolidation, and the following January it became the
new Kane Covmty s=t.

Resttlement

By the spring of 1868 conflictswith the Indians had settled down enough for the missonaries to move back to
their own settlements. Most of the families that resettled Grafton were former resdents, however, less than half
of the pre-evacuation population retumed.  Asaresult, the Grafton Ward of the Mormon Church was

A Journal History of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, January 22,1866, p, 5
" Bethers, op, cit., p 14.

Stout, op, cit,, p, 26,

Jenson, A History of the Grafton Ward, 1868,
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reintegrated into the Rockville Ward as asmdler branch, and Alonzo H. Russall replaced Anson Winsor as
the presiding dder.

Mormon Church leedersin Sdt Lake City viewed the dwindling population with dismay, and in 1869 they sant
more missonaries down to fortify Grafton and severd other smal towns. The numbers continued to incresse
dowly and finally in 1877 Grafton had enough resdentsto reorganize their ovm ward once again.

LouisaMaria Fogter (1839-1917), married Alonzo H. Russdll in 1856 as apolygamous wife. She had thefirst
loom in town, brought from New Hampshire with her as dhe traveled across the plainsto Utahin 1852. Se
moved to Rockville from Grafton during the Evacuation and four of her nine children were bom thae™” In
1879 e moved back to Grafton to the small log housethat Russdll built for her across the street from the larger
adobe housethat he shared with Nancy Briggs Foder, her sdter.

Ore of Nancy Briggs Foster's sons, Alonzo Russdl, J. (1859-1925), and hiswife, Elizabeth Hardy (1858-
1924), built their house on the west end of North Street. Although the houseis now gone, the foundation
remains visible. Seven of their eight children were bom in Grafton, but only four outlived their parents—a
tetament to the difficult life in Grafton a the time.

John Wood, S, (1819-1911) and hiswife, Ellen Smith Wood (1822-1899) were cadled to Grafton in 1862 and
lived there briefly, before moving on to Nevada and retuming to Grafton in 1877 The Woods were English
and joined the Mormon Church therein 1851. John worked as acod miner in England and as a farmer,
blacksmith and carpenter in Utah. The couple had ten children but lost five ininfancy and only three outlived
their mother. The Woods built the extant brick housewith three rooms, acdlar, three porchesand agranary in
1877 onthe west sde of Grafton Road. By the 1880 census the Woods were one of thirteen families, for atotal
of saventy-two inhabitants, living in Grafton

At that timethe church index of the ward listed 111 membersincluding children and infants. Beginningin 1881
anumber of church organizations were formed, including a Primary Association (for the children), with Nancy
Briggs Foder Russl as presdent, and awomen's Relief Society presided over by Charlotte Pincock Ballard.
Continuing to focus on the agricultural sucocess of the Southem (Cotton) Mission, Brigham Y oung st Asian
silkworm eggsdown to Grafton and other southem settlements around 1874 in regponseto anationa interest in
silk. The mulberry treesin Grafton sarved as the food source for the silkworms. However, like the growing of
cotton, this industry soon declined, as it shifted focus away from the much-nesded food ages™™*

In 1886 the resdentsbuilt apermanent adobe church/schoolhouse a the intersection of Eagt Street (or Grafton
Road) and North Sregts*”™ An undated county school district questionnaire indicated that the one-room

"° This branch met separately from the Rockville ward, although they were part of the same organization and shared the same leaders and coffers, A
branch is similar to a ward with the primary difference being fewer members of the congregation.
Piatt & Piatt, p, 82,
*ibid., p, 62,
" Ibid,, p, 90,
Ballard, op, cit,, p, 18,
*\ County District of Schools, Questionnaire to James M, Ballard, Secretary and Trustee of Grafton School District regarding the new school house, n,d.



OMB No. 1024-0018, NPS Form

United states Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section No. 8 Page 8 Grafton Historic District, Rockville, Washington County, UT

building was unfinished but had cogt $600 to date and was funded by donations. 1t dso showed that the
dmcture was used for Sunday LDS church services. The building was finally dedicated on July 7, 18388/ It
was ussd for school purposes until 1919 when the lagt elght students were transferred to the school & Rockville.

Oil Speculation

Underground oil reserveswere discovered in North Cresk neer Virgin in 1904. Beforelong speculators were
surveying clams throughout much of the Virgin River Basin, and an oil company cameto Graftonin 1908 and
drilled awell in awash north of town. A derrick was then built south of town to the west of the cemetery;
however, the amount of oil that was produced was insufficient to warrant continuing. The company |left town
the following year, and the boom ended about the same time when none of the claims produced as anticipated.
This short-lived industry provided temporary work for someof the local resdents, and Ether Wood mede four
dollars per day as a surveyor."*"

Entertainment -

The sttlers a Grafton worked very hard to eke out ameeger exigence, but they dso treasured recregtion asa
way to relieve the daily pressuresof life. Danceswere often heldin Alonzo H. Russdll's tent before permanent
dmctures were erected, and later the adobe schoolhouse/church was the setting for these festivities nearly every
Friday night. The children were treeted to deighridesin the winter when sufficient snow was on the ground,
and summer activities included taffy pulls and swimming in the Virgin River.  John H. Ballard wasa
professond fiddler, and severd of the Ballard and Russdll menjoined tdents to creste aband that played a the
dances and other holiday celebrations.

The Hurricane Cand and the Final Decline of Grafton as aCommunity

The population of Grafton remained steedy during the last decades of the nineteenth and the first decade of the
twentieth centuries. The 1830 United States Cansuslisted seventy-one people a this settlement. The 1890
records were destroyed inafire, but LDS Church Historian Andrew Jenson noted after avisit to Grafton in
April of 1892 that there were sixteen families, totaling seventy-eight psode™ ™ The 1900 U.S. Cenaus indicated
that the number had increased to ninety-eight resdents, and to 107 in 1910. By 1920, however, the population
of Grafton had plummeted to forty-six people. The last cansustaken a Grafton was in 1930, and the population
had dwindled by half to twenty-three.

There were severd important factors that led to the ultimate demise of this small community. Irrigable land a
Grafton was severdy limited, and it was all claimed by the first generation of settlers. Aschildren grew up ad
created familiesof their own, there was no available farmland, and they were forced to look dsewhere to meke
aliving. The same problem contributed to the downfall of other neighboring settlements such as Mountain
Dell, Duncan's Retreat, Northmp, and Shunesburg.  Furthermore, modem utilities such as eectricity and
running water were never introduced to the ssmggling settlement of Grafton, which provided further incentive
for the younger generations to move away.

Jenson, A History of Grafton Ward, 1888,
*"Wood, op. cit., p, 9

Ballard, op, cit., p. 23
** Jenson, History of Grafton Ward, 1892,
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Farming & Grafton had dways been very difficult. The soil was sandy and alkaline, aless than ided condition
for raising crops. Furthermore, the Virgin River was very unpredictable and could rise as much as four feet in a
sngle day, destroying damsand flooding the town:

...agreat number of damswere built only to be washed awvay, sometimes two or threein a
sngleyear. With each flood the ditches were filled with sand, acircumstance which made an
amog continuousjob of cleaning, amounting in some cases dmog, to building anew  ditch.
Someof the settlers remarked, with agrim humor, that making ditches a Grafton was like the
household washing; it was aweekly chore

Theriver could dso drop S0 low that it became ameandering dream. Even the well-engineered irrigation
sydem had its limitations, and the farmers worked extremdy long and hard for their moderate harvests. For
example, Thomas Woodbury, the nurseryman who initially sayed a Grafton because Franklin Wheder Y oung
gavehim agood farming lot, |eft after two planting seesons becausethe cut worms ate all of the budson his
fmit treesevery spring, and the red ants and gophers destroyed what the cut worms did not.N

The final and perhgpslargest blow that led to the abandonment of Grafton was the constmction of the Hurricane
Cand. With aghortage of farmland for the younger generations, the Hurricane Bench, gpproximatdly fifteen to
twenty miles downstream, was ripe for cultivation, but it was too high abovethe river to be irrigated with a
common ditch. Greater meesures had to be taken, and the Hurricane Cand Company was organized on July 11,
1893. Each stockholder would be entitled to twenty acres of farmland up on the bench, thus providing plotsfor
agpproximately one hvmdred young men. Wages for the constmction workerswere st a $2.00 per day, a
significant Sep up from the money they could meke a Grafton, athough most of the workerstook 25% of their
payment in cash and 75% in gock (land). The cand and dam werefinally finished in August of 1904. The
1910 census showed that ten familiesfrom Grafton, totaling forty-four people, hed rdocated to Hurricane. By
1920 those numbers had more than tripled to thirty-two familieswith 138 people.

Asfamiliesleft Grafton they took their houses with them whenever possible. George Henry and Emily
Hagtings Wood moved their log houseto Hurricane prior to 1910, having been sockholders in the cand
company. Henry's nephew Andrew moved his house and bam (located eedt of the extant John, S. and Emily
Wood house) dong with hisfamily to Hurricane, aswell, in 1911.  The lagt people to leave Grafton were
Minnie and LuWayne Russdl, and Edward D. and Rhoda Ballard Jones  who owned the John, S., and Emily
Wood house from 1920 until the spring of 1945. In 1944 the Joneses bought atwo-room log cabin from Merrill
and Agnes Russ| that was located eedt of the Alonzo and Nancy Russdll adobe home. They took the cabin
with them when they moved to Rockville in the spring of 1946/

** Andrew Karl Larson, /was ca//ed to Dixie, pp. 95-6,
Thomas H. Woodbury, Letter to the Domestic Gardeners' Club, Deseret News. February 2, 1863.
" Wood, op,cit,, p.1
" According to Vilo Jones DeMille, daughter of Edward and Rhoda Jones,
"Piatt, op, cit, p, 111,
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Grafton and the Movie Industry

Grafton was the filming location for anumber of movies beginning in 1929 with "/« Old Arizona," the first
talkie filmed outdoors. "T/ze ArizonaKid" with Wamer Baxter and Carole Lombard followed in 1930. Severd
of the locd resdents, including Vilo and Floyd DeMille, eamed four dollars aday working as extras.

"Ramrod” was filmed in 1947 with Jod McCrea, Veronica Lake, and Lloyd Bridges, and severd temporary
buildings, including ahotd to the west of the schoolhouse, were congmcted for the st "Butch Cassdy and the
SundanceKid" starring Robert Redford and Paul Newman, was filmed & Graftonin 1969. A smdl frame
housewas congmcted for the movie a the southeest comer of Eagt and North Streetsbut wes later accidentdly
bumed down by campers. " Child Bride of Short Creek” in 1981 and "The Red Fury” in 1984 were the last
movies filmed in Grafton™ There are no dmctures remaining from the movie sets.

Architecture

Classicd gyles, particularly Greek Revival, were very popular throughout America during the mid-nineteenth
century, as they symbolized the Gregk democracy onwhich our nation was founded. Symmetrica floor plans
and devations d<o reflected thesetraditiona vaues, often following the ided proportionsset out by Italian
Renaissance architect AndreaPalladio. Buildersin each region adgpted these ideds to suit their local nesds and
resources. Classcad gyles were quite prominent in early Utah architecture, as the majority of settlers came
from the eestem United States where these styles were popular. Using available materids such as adobe, soft-
fired brick, and logs, with black basdt and red sandgone foundations, the Grafton pioneers built in the popular
classca gyles, incorporating vemacular characteristics such as stucco-covered walls, unadomed frieze boards,
flat wooden lintels, and comiceretums. Timber for building constmction and fences was obtained viathe
nearby Wood Road (not included in district boundary), which provided aoocess to forested arees

Hoor plans a0 reflected thesetraditional styles and many of the homeshad single-cell, hall-parlor, or double-
pile plans, depending upon the wedlth, need, or socid standing of the individual. The extant buildings in
Grafton were built over aforty-five-year period fromtheinitial settlement of the community a thislocation
fromc. 1862 toe. 1907.

The rather degant (consdering the setting) adobe brick Alonzo H. and Nancy Foster Russdll House isasde
gabled one-and-a-hdf story Gresk Reviva vemacular housewith afull-width frame front porch and a shed-
roofed section a the rear. The housereflects the prominent position of Alonzo H. Russdll in the community
including hisrole as bishop of the local LDSward. 1twas built c. 1862-3 with Gregk Reviva-style dements
like low-pitched sde-gabled roof, the emphaszed, comice with frieze, comice retums on the gable ends, ad
sx-over-sx panedouble-himg windows. Greek Revival architectura styles were popular in the United States
from 1825-1850 but the Mormons brought the style with them to Utah and continued to use it herefor severd
more decades.

The Louisa Maria Foster Russdll House isasingle-story vemacular 1og house built ¢. 1863Y* with few styling
details. Itsmodest Sze and styling was most likely gppropriate for an additiona polygamouswife. Itissde-

Grafton Heritage Partnership Project. "Historic Grafton; A National Register Historic Site In Southwestern Utah,” Undated (post 2001) pamphlet,
" The exact construction date is unknown but presumably it was either soon after arrival in the area c, 1862-3 or ¢, 1873-9, Piatt & Piatt notes (p. 82)
that Louise Maria Foster Russell lived in the house from "about 1879 when she returned to live in the log home that Alonzo had built for her.”
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gabled with acentra door, adjacent window and a board-and-batten shed-roofed rear addition. Six-over-six sseh
double-hung windows provide light to the interior. The logs are roughly squared with overlgpping sadde
notching. The attic gable ends are adobe brick with vertical window openings. One of its outbuildings, a frame
shed, islocated to the south (rear) of the house

The John, S., and Ellen Smith Wood housewas built c. 1877. Itiscongmcted of fired brick, and isa cross-
wing with asde-gabled front section with two corbelled chimneys and arear-gabled ell, three open-frame
porches and three rooms. A cdllar entrance isthrough the reer porch. Cross wings were popular in Utah from
1830 through 1910 and again from 1920-1930. |t was the most popular housetype in Utah after 1880. Gresk
Reviva styling influences can be ssen in the angle of the gabled roof and the strong comiceline. Two of the
originaframeagricultura outbuildings remain to the south of the house, araised granary on gilts and atwo-
room log bam. Both outbuildings date from c. 1877.

Thefront-gabledsingle-room adobe brick Grafton Church & School building was constmcted in 1836 with
Grek Revival syleinfluences. Itisatemple shgpewith itsentrance in the gable end. Theridgeline hesa
corbelled-brick chimney on the north and an open roof-top cupolalbell tower over the door. Three
symmetricaly placed windowsin vertical openings pierce both sde walls. Stairs have been added onthe
exterior eegt wall S0 that visitors can s the interior through the high window when the building is locked.

David and Maria Smith Ballard built their one-and-a-hdf story frame house c. 1907 on the west end of North
Street. It hes painted horizontal drop or novelty wooden siding on the faBade and vertical board-and-batten
sding on the other elevations. The sde-gabled roof hes amedium pitch, dose eavesand asmple fired-brick
chimney ontheroofline. A single-sory shed-roofed rear addition hes vertical window openings. A large frame
bam and araised log granary remain nearby the house

Conclusion

Today the Grafton town site gands as af ri buteto the men and women who settled it and kept it alive for more
than eighty years  The extant cultural resources are in varying stagesof deterioration, but most of the buildings
are quite sound because of recent restoration work. Grafton is aunique example of aMormon frontier
settlement that survived the hardships of the hostile and untamed environment of southem Utah, yet was
abandoned in the mid-twentieth century without having been significantly dtered. The buildings gopeer largely
as they did when they were erected, except for the effects of time and neglect. Unlike Grafton, other Mormon
mission settlements were ether quickly abandoned, leaving very few visible remains behind, or they thrived
and continue to survive today inamuch dtered sate. Grafton should be preserved as an unpardlded example
of anineteenth-century frontier Utah town. The remaining buildings provide agood representation of the
sttlement as it gopeared near the turn of the twentieth century and continue to be contributing historic
resources.
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